
 
View or subscribe to updates for agendas, reports and minutes at 

mycouncil.oxford.gov.uk. 
All public papers are available from the calendar link to this meeting once published 

Agenda 

Special meeting of Council 

To consider the Oxford Local Plan 2036 

Summons 
A meeting of the City Council will be held to transact the business 
set out below on 

Date: Monday 8 June 2020 

Time: 6.00 pm 

Place: Zoom - Remote meeting – details sent separately 

Proper Officer 

 

Members of the public can observe this meeting and: 

 may register in advance to speak to the meeting in accordance with the public 
speaking rules only on items on this agenda 

 may record all or part of the meeting in accordance with the Council’s protocol 

Information about speaking and recording is set out in the agenda and on the website 

Please contact the Committee Services Officer to register to speak; or with any other 
queries.  

This meeting can be viewed live or afterwards on the council’s YouTube channel. 

 

For further information please contact:  

Jennifer Thompson, Committee and Members Services Officer, Committee 
and Member Services Officer 

 01865 252275  democraticservices@oxford.gov.uk   

https://www.oxford.gov.uk/info/20236/getting_involved_at_council_meetings
https://www.oxford.gov.uk/info/20236/getting_involved_at_council_meetings
https://www.oxford.gov.uk/downloads/file/1100/protocol_for_recording_at_public_meetings
https://www.oxford.gov.uk/info/20236/getting_involved_at_council_meetings
https://www.youtube.com/oxfordcitycouncil


 

Oxford City Council, Town Hall, St Aldate’s Oxford OX1 1BX 

 
Membership of Council 

Councillors: Membership 48: Quorum 12.  

 

Lord Mayor Councillor Craig Simmons 

 

Deputy Lord 
Mayor 

Councillor Mohammed Altaf-Khan 

 

Sheriff Councillor Stephen Goddard 

 

Members Councillor Lubna Arshad 

Councillor Jamila Begum Azad 

Councillor Shaista Aziz 

Councillor Nadine Bely-Summers 

Councillor Susan Brown 

Councillor Nigel Chapman 

Councillor Mary Clarkson 

Councillor Colin Cook 

Councillor Tiago Corais 

Councillor Steven Curran 

Councillor Dr Hosnieh Djafari-Marbini 

Councillor Alex Donnelly 

Councillor James Fry 

Councillor Andrew Gant 

Councillor Stef Garden 

Councillor Michael Gotch 

Councillor Mick Haines 

Councillor Paul Harris 

Councillor Tom Hayes 

Councillor David Henwood 

Councillor Alex Hollingsworth 

Councillor Richard Howlett 

Councillor Rae Humberstone 

Councillor Dan Iley-Williamson 

Councillor Pat Kennedy 

Councillor Tom Landell Mills 

Councillor Ben Lloyd-Shogbesan 

Councillor Mark Lygo 

Councillor Sajjad Malik 

Councillor Dr Joe McManners 

Councillor Chewe Munkonge 

Councillor Susanna Pressel 

Councillor Mike Rowley 

Councillor Martyn Rush 

Councillor Christine Simm 

Councillor Linda Smith 

Councillor Roz Smith 

Councillor John Tanner 

Councillor Richard Tarver 

Councillor Sian Taylor 

Councillor Marie Tidball 

Councillor Ed Turner 

Councillor Louise Upton 

Councillor Elizabeth Wade 

Councillor Dick Wolff 

 

Apologies will be reported at the meeting.  



 

Oxford City Council, Town Hall, St Aldate’s Oxford OX1 1BX 

 

Agenda 
The business to be transacted is set out below 

  Pages 

 PART 1 - PUBLIC BUSINESS   

1   Apologies for absence  

2   Declarations of interest  

3   Public addresses and questions that relate to matters for 
decision at this meeting 

 

 Public addresses and questions to the Leader or other Cabinet member 
received in accordance with Council Procedure Rules 11.12, 11.13, and 
11.14 relating to matters for decision in this agenda. 

The request to speak accompanied by the full text of the address 
or question must be received by the Head of Law and Governance 
by 5.00 pm on Tuesday 2 June 2020 

The briefing note will contain the text of addresses and questions 
submitted by the deadline, and written responses where available. 

A total of 45 minutes is available for this public speaking items. 
Responses are included in this time. Up to five minutes is available for 
each public address. Questions are restricted to under 200 words 

Remote meeting: public speakers will be sent joining instructions for 
the meeting when their speech/ question is accepted for inclusion.  

 

 

 CABINET RECOMMENDATIONS   

4   Adoption of Oxford Local Plan 2036 7 - 18 

 Cabinet on 8 June will consider the report of the Head of Planning 
Services and the Oxford Local Plan 2036, and will decide whether to 
recommend that Council agrees to adopt the Oxford Local Plan 2036. 

Councillor Alex Hollingsworth, Cabinet Member for Planning and 
Housing Delivery, will introduce the report and the Local Plan and move 
the recommendations. 

Recommendations: That Council resolves to: 

1. Adopt the Oxford Local Plan 2036 (set out at Appendix 1 to this 
report), which incorporates the Inspectors’ Main Modifications 
(set out at Appendix 3 to this report) and the City Council’s 
Additional Modifications (set out at Appendix 4 to this report) as 
part of the statutory development plan for the area as listed in 

 



 

Oxford City Council, Town Hall, St Aldate’s Oxford OX1 1BX 

Appendix 6; 

2. Adopt the updates to the Oxford City Adopted Policies Map in 
line with the Oxford Local Plan 2036 set out at Appendix 5 to this 
report; and 

3. Authorise the Head of Planning Services, in consultation with the 
Cabinet Member for Planning and Housing Delivery, to finalise 
the necessary documents to support adoption including the 
Adoption Statement (draft as Appendix 7) and Sustainability 
Statement (draft as Appendix 8) and to make such minor editorial 
corrections to the adopted Local Plan (Appendix 1) and Policies 
Map (Appendix 5) as deemed necessary ahead of publication. 
This will include a final desktop published version of the Oxford 
Local Plan 2036 and adopted policies map. 

 

Note: Any amendments from Councillors must be sent to the Head 
of Law and Governance via democraticservices@oxford.gov.uk 
and must arrive no later than 10.00am Friday 5 June 2020. 

 

5   Matters exempt from publication and exclusion of the 
public 

 

 If Council wishes to exclude the press and the public from the meeting 
during consideration of any aspects of the preceding agenda items it 
will be necessary for Council to pass a resolution in accordance with the 
provisions of Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 
specifying the grounds on which their presence could involve the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as described in specific paragraphs of 
Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act if and so long as, in all the 
circumstances of the case, the public interest in maintaining the 
exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information. 

(The Access to Information Procedure Rules – Section 15 of the 
Council’s Constitution – sets out the conditions under which the public 
can be excluded from meetings of the Council) 

 

 

 Updates and additional information to supplement this 
agenda are published in the Council Briefing Note. 

 

 Additional information, public addresses, and amendments are 
published in a supplementary briefing note. This is available by 5pm on 
the working day before the meeting and can be accessed along with the 
agenda on the council’s website. The agenda and briefing note should 
be read together.  

 

 

mailto:democraticservices@oxford.gov.uk


 

Oxford City Council, Town Hall, St Aldate’s Oxford OX1 1BX 

 Information for those attending - Remote meetings 
guidelines 

 

 Regulations passed in April 2020 enable the Council to hold meetings 
without some or all Members being physically present together in a 
room. To ensure the smooth running of remote meetings the Council 
has agreed a Protocol for Remote Meetings and everyone is asked to 
follow these guidelines which are based on that Protocol. 

Attendance at remote meetings 

Members (councillors) are “in attendance” provided that they can hear 
and be heard by the other participants. Any loss of visual connection 
does not give rise to non-attendance but a loss of audio connection 
does. 

Should you lose connection to the meeting try to reconnect 
immediately. If you cannot immediately re-join the meeting by video link, 
please dial in to the meeting using the telephone number provided in 
the joining instructions.  

Remote meetings etiquette 

All participants are asked to: 

 Stay visible on camera while your video feed is on. Turn the camera 
off if you stand up or leave your seat.  

 Keep your microphone muted unless speaking. Un-mute / mute your 
own microphone before and after speaking. 

 Use the “raise hand” icon to indicate a wish to speak. This is located 
in the “Participants” tab. Please be patient, the Chair will call you to 
speak and has absolute discretion to determine the order in which 
participants speak. Please lower your virtual hand after speaking. 

 Not speak over other participants. 

 Keep contributions relevant and concise. 

 Councillors and officers must use the Chat function only to assist 
with the smooth administration of the meeting, e.g. to alert officers to 
a loss of audio connectivity. 

Councillors voting at remote meetings 

The method of voting may be by: 

 The general agreement of the meeting, if no one speaks or indicates 
against the proposal; 

 A virtual show of hands. Councillors are asked to raise their hand at 
the appropriate point and leave it raised; the clerk will state each 
option, count, and then lower all hands after stating the 
number/result of the vote. 

 

 

 



 

 

Oxford City Council, Town Hall, St Aldate’s Oxford OX1 1BX 

Information for those attending 

Recording and reporting on meetings held in public 

Members of public and press can record, or report in other ways, the parts of the meeting 
open to the public. You are not required to indicate in advance but it helps if you notify the 
Committee and Member Services Officer prior to the meeting so that they can inform the 
Chair and direct you to the best place to record.  

The Council asks Councillors and members of the press and public recording the meeting: 

 To follow the protocol which can be found on the Council’s website  

 Not to disturb or disrupt the meeting 

 Not to edit the recording in a way that could lead to misinterpretation of the 
proceedings. This includes not editing an image or views expressed in a way that may 
ridicule or show a lack of respect towards those being recorded. 

 To avoid recording members of the public present, even inadvertently, unless they are 
addressing the meeting. 

Please be aware that you may be recorded during your speech and any follow-up. If you 
are attending please be aware that recordings may take place and that you may be 
inadvertently included in these. 

The Chair of the meeting has absolute discretion to suspend or terminate any activities 
that in his or her opinion are disruptive. 

Councillors declaring interests  

General duty 

You must declare any disclosable pecuniary interests when the meeting reaches the item 
on the agenda headed “Declarations of Interest” or as soon as it becomes apparent to you. 

What is a disclosable pecuniary interest? 

Disclosable pecuniary interests relate to your* employment; sponsorship (ie payment for 
expenses incurred by you in carrying out your duties as a councillor or towards your 
election expenses); contracts; land in the Council’s area; licenses for land in the Council’s 
area; corporate tenancies; and securities. These declarations must be recorded in each 
councillor’s Register of Interests which is publicly available on the Council’s website. 

Declaring an interest 

Where any matter disclosed in your Register of Interests is being considered at a meeting, 
you must declare that you have an interest. You should also disclose the nature as well as 
the existence of the interest. If you have a disclosable pecuniary interest, after having 
declared it at the meeting you must not participate in discussion or voting on the item and 
must withdraw from the meeting whilst the matter is discussed. 

Members’ Code of Conduct and public perception 

Even if you do not have a disclosable pecuniary interest in a matter, the Members’ Code of 
Conduct says that a member “must serve only the public interest and must never 
improperly confer an advantage or disadvantage on any person including yourself” and 
that “you must not place yourself in situations where your honesty and integrity may be 
questioned”. The matter of interests must be viewed within the context of the Code as a 
whole and regard should continue to be paid to the perception of the public. 

*Disclosable pecuniary interests that must be declared are not only those of the member her or himself but 
also those member’s spouse, civil partner or person they are living with as husband or wife or as if they were 
civil partners.  

https://www.oxford.gov.uk/downloads/file/1100/protocol_for_recording_at_public_meetings


 

. 

 

To: Cabinet 

Council  

Date: 8 June 2020 

Report of: Head of Planning Services 

Title of Report:  Adoption of the Oxford Local Plan 2036 

 

Summary and recommendations 

Purpose of report: Council is requested to agree to adopt the Oxford Local 
Plan 2036 

Key decision: Yes  

Cabinet Member: Councillor Alex Hollingsworth, Cabinet Member for 
Planning and Housing Delivery 

Corporate Priority: A Vibrant and Sustainable Economy; Meeting Housing 
Needs; Strong and Active Communities; A Clean and 
Green Oxford. 

Policy Framework: Development Plan Document. 

Recommendations: 

That Cabinet resolves to: 

1. Recommend that Council agrees to adopt the Oxford Local Plan 2036 and 
associated updates to the policies map; and 

That Council resolves to: 

1. Adopt the Oxford Local Plan 2036 (set out at Appendix 1 to this report), 
which incorporates the Inspectors’ Main Modifications (set out at Appendix 3 
to this report) and the City Council’s Additional Modifications (set out at 
Appendix 4 to this report) as part of the statutory development plan for the 
area as listed in Appendix 6;  

2. Adopt the updates to the Oxford City Adopted Policies Map in line with the 
Oxford Local Plan 2036 set out at Appendix 5 to this report; and 

3. Authorise the Head of Planning Services, in consultation with the Cabinet 
Member for Planning and Housing Delivery, to finalise the necessary 
documents to support adoption including the Adoption Statement (draft as 
Appendix 7) and Sustainability Statement (draft as Appendix 8) and to make 
such minor editorial corrections to the adopted Local Plan (Appendix 1) and 
Policies Map (Appendix 5) as deemed necessary ahead of publication. This 
will include a final desktop published version of the Oxford Local Plan 2036 

7

Agenda Item 4



and adopted policies map.  

 

 

 

Appendices 

Appendix 1 Oxford Local Plan 2036 incorporating Main Modifications 
and Additional Modifications  

Appendix 2 Inspectors’ Report 

Appendix 3 Schedule of Main Modifications  

Appendix 4 Schedule of Additional Modifications 

Appendix 5 Updated Policies Map  

Appendix 6 List of Documents that will form the Development Plan on 
adoption of the Local Plan 2036 and also the documents 
which are superseded 

Appendix 7 Draft Adoption Statement 

Appendix 8 Draft Sustainability Appraisal Statement 

Appendix 9 

Appendix 10 

Risk Assessment 

Equalities Impact Assessment 

Introduction and background  

1. The purpose of this report is to seek approval for the adoption of the Oxford Local 
Plan 2036 (the Plan, Appendix 1).  

2. The Local Plan is a vital document that sets out the shape of our city, and how it will 
look and feel in years to come. It will guide and shape new developments, so that 
they respect the past and present of Oxford, while improving its future by supporting 
our city’s people and their environment. The Oxford Local Plan 2036 will determine 
the homes, jobs, community facilities, and infrastructure for the next twenty 
years, striking the right balance between the different pressures that Oxford and its 
people face. It also sets out our priorities as a city. It makes a priority of providing 
affordable housing and good quality jobs. It focuses growth and development on 
district centres - not just on the city centre - to make sure that facilities and services 
are close to home and convenient for local residents. It encourages and prioritises 
walking, cycling, and public transport to help tackle congestion and pollution and 
make our city healthier. A local plan needs to respect the city of previous 
generations while shaping the city of the generations to come. That is what 
the Oxford Local Plan 2016-2036 aims to achieve. 

3. Once adopted, the Oxford Local Plan 2016-2036 will replace the Oxford Local Plan 
2001-2016, the Core Strategy 2026, the Sites and Housing Plan 2011-2026. The 
adopted Local Plan will be accompanied by an updated Policies Map setting out the 
spatial policy designations that flow from the Plan’s policies (Appendix 5). The Plan 
will form part of the statutory development plan for the purposes of Section 38(6) of 
the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. Appendix 6 lists all of the 
documents that will form the development plan, which will include the Local Plan 

8



2036. Appendix 6 also lists those documents that are superseded by the Oxford 
Local Plan 2036. On adoption, the new Local Plan will have full weight in 
determining planning applications. 

4. Following the submission of the Oxford Local Plan in March 2019, the Plan has 
since been examined by two government appointed independent Inspectors who 
have concluded in their report (Appendix 2) that the Plan is sound (as amended by 
the Main Modifications, see Appendix 3). Following this conclusion, the Plan is now 
ready to be adopted. The Plan has been through a number of key stages to reach 
adoption. Adoption is the final stage of putting a Local Plan in place. 

Summary of the Oxford Local Plan 2036 process to date 

Initial consultation exercises 

5. The First Steps consultation kicked-off the Local Plan process. This early 
consultation was not statutorily required but was a very important way of getting 
wide-ranging input to the initial scoping of the Local Plan, identifying people’s 
aspirations for the Local Plan and what it might achieve.  

6. The first statutory stage of consultation was the Preferred Options stage (formally 
called the Regulation 18 stage), following analysis of the First Steps consultation 
and collection of significant amounts of other information. At this stage of 
consultation, sets of options for potential policies were put forward and people could 
comment at a range of different levels and in a variety of ways on their preferred 
options for policy approaches. The responses to this consultation shaped the 
drafting of the Plan.  

Regulation 19 

7. Prior to submission of the Plan for examination by the Secretary of State, 
consultation on the proposed submission draft of the Plan took place (formally 
called the Regulation 19 stage). The aim of this consultation was to ask for views on 
whether the Plan met the tests of soundness set out in paragraph 35 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework 2019 (the NPPF). The consultation commenced on 1st 
November 2018, and representations were invited initially over a six week period, 
but this was extended to a total of eight weeks until 28th December 2018.  

8. A total of 1761 comments were received from 319 respondents. The responses 
were subsequently summarised by officers, and a response was provided to each 
comment received. As a result of the comments, a number of minor modifications 
were made to the Plan. Minor amendments are small typographical corrections, 
clarifications and factual updates that would not affect how a policy would be 
applied. Following these amendments, the Plan was ready to be submitted for 
examination.  

Examination  

9. On 22nd March 2019 the Regulation 19 consultation representations were submitted 
to the Secretary of State alongside the Local Plan, to be considered by Planning 
Inspectors as part of an independent examination into the soundness of the Local 
Plan.  

10. Shortly after submission of the Plan, the Council was assigned two Inspectors by 
the Planning Inspectorate, Mr Jonathan Bore and Mr Nick Fagan. The Inspectors’ 
task was to consider the soundness of the submitted Plan, based on the criteria set 

9



out in paragraph 35 of the National Planning Policy Framework 2019 (the 
NPPF).  The relevant soundness criteria are whether the Plan is: 

Positively prepared (providing a strategy which, as a minimum, seeks to meet 
the area’s objectively assessed needs; and is informed by agreements with 
other authorities, so that unmet need from neighbouring areas is accommodated 
where it is practical to do so and is consistent with achieving sustainable 
development); 

Justified (an appropriate strategy, taking into account the reasonable 
alternatives, and based on proportionate evidence); 

Effective (deliverable over the plan period and based on effective joint working 
on cross-boundary strategic matters that have been dealt with rather than 
deferred, as evidenced by the statement of common ground); and 

Consistent with national policy (enabling the delivery of sustainable 
development in accordance with the policies in the NPPF).  

11. The first stage of this examination included an initial assessment of the Plan by the 
Inspectors. Following this initial assessment, a number of questions were asked of 
the Council relating to the soundness of the Plan’s policies. Answers were provided 
in response to these questions, and a number of follow up questions and responses 
were later given.  

12. Following their initial assessment of the Plan, the Inspectors then identified a 
number of principal matters that were discussed during public hearing sessions 
chaired by the Inspectors. These Hearing Sessions took place from 3rd to 19th 
December 2019 at the King’s Centre, Oxford.  

13. As a result of both the initial questions and hearing sessions, the Inspectors 
identified various amendments that they considered necessary to ensure the Plan is 
'sound' and legally compliant. A schedule of changes deemed necessary by the 
Inspectors was put together by officers and agreed by the Inspectors. These 
changes are known as 'Main Modifications'. 

Main Modifications  

14. The last stage of the Local Plan examination process focused on the Main 
Modifications recommended by the Inspectors. A schedule of the proposed Main 
Modifications considered necessary for the Plan to be found sound was prepared 
(Appendix 3) and agreed by the Inspectors. A Sustainability Appraisal was also 
undertaken of the Main Modifications. These two documents were consulted upon 
during a 6 week consultation period from 14th February to 27th March 2020. 

15. Following this consultation, the Inspectors considered all the comments received 
and consequently presented their final conclusions in a report (Appendix 2). The 
report concluded that the Local Plan meets the criteria for soundness in the NPPF 
and satisfies the requirements of Section 20(5) of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004, subject to the Main Modifications identified as needed to meet 
legal and statutory requirements and for soundness. In addition officers proposed a 
number of Minor Modifications (Appendix 4) such as factual updates and 
typographical changes. The Inspectors were satisfied these did not go to the heart 
of the soundness of the Plan. These are available on the City Council’s website 
www.oxford.gov.uk/mainmods.  

10

http://www.oxford.gov.uk/mainmods


16. Notable Main Modifications have included (please note Appendix 3 for full schedule 
of Main Modifications): 

i. The Inspectors deemed that Policy E3: New academic floorspace for private 
colleges/language schools was unnecessary because it made distinctions on 
the basis of the nature of the applicant, as it allowed the expansion of the two 
universities and Ruskin College, but only allowed new or additional academic 
or administrative floor space for private colleges in certain circumstances. 
Additionally, there are strong policies in place elsewhere in the Plan to 
prevent the loss of residential and employment space, so E3 was not 
deemed necessary. Instead, the needs of educational establishments other 
than the two universities is addressed by MM4 which makes additions to 
Policy E2, although with less restrictions than in Policy E3. Policy E3 is 
deleted. 

ii. Policy E4: Securing opportunities for local employment, was recommended 
for deletion by the Inspectors as they considered it not to be in accordance 
with the NPPF as they believe its criteria imposed restrictions on the 
operation of businesses, and also did not concern planning matters. The 
Council argued that the principle of the policy was sound, as it helped to 
address the income disparities and skills shortages that exist locally using 
planning policy. Although Policy E4 was ultimately deleted, the initiatives 
Policy E4 set out were allowed to remain in the supporting text of the Plan 
(MM5). A technical advice note is currently being drafted in order to provide 
guidance on the value of preparing Employment and Skills Plans (ESPs), 
which could help to deliver the initiatives set out in Policy E4 despite the 
deletion of the policy.  

iii. On submission of the Plan the City Council wrote to the Planning 
Inspectorate to say that recent guidance meant that an update would need to 
be made to the Council’s assessment of housing capacity. This was done 
following submission of the Plan and further refined as part of the 
examination process. A number of changes in guidance affected the 
calculation of housing capacity, in particular that calculation of windfall rates 
no longer excluded garden development and that a national ratio to convert 
the number of student bedrooms to the number of homes equivalent was 
introduced and changed for Oxford from 5 to 2.5. These changes to the way 
housing capacity is calculated resulted in an increased capacity in Oxford 
from 8,620 to 10,884. A stepped trajectory has also been introduced that 
reflects the likely delivery timescales. These changes are shown in MM6.  

iv. The Inspectors recommended the removal of the requirement to make 
affordable housing contributions on sites of less than 10 homes due to its 
departure from national policy. The Council argued that the departure was 
justified due to local circumstances, for example the scale of affordable 
housing need in Oxford, and also the number of sites within the trajectory 
that would not deliver 50% on site affordable housing due to their size if this 
element of the policy was removed. Despite this, the Inspectors remained 
opposed to requiring affordable housing contributions on sites of less than 10 
homes and this has now been removed from the Plan (Policy H2) by MM7.  

v. For consistency MM7 also changes the threshold at which student 
accommodation is liable for affordable housing contributions. In addition 
some exemptions for student accommodation are also introduced. The 

11



Inspectors required these exemptions because of the requirement in Policy 
H9 that the Universities provide sufficient student accommodation. The 
exemptions are student campus sites or redevelopment of existing university 
student accommodation. These exemptions are lesser than those existing 
currently in the Sites and Housing Plan. Policy H9 that sets out the 
thresholds for students living outside of university-provided accommodation 
has been caveated by MM12 to ensure that the thresholds are achievable by 
the universities. However, the list of suitable locations for student 
accommodation in Policy H8, which unlike the Sites and Housing Plan does 
not list arterial roads as suitable locations, has not been amended.  

vi. The Inspectors required the deletion of Policy G7 in order to make the Plan 
sound (MM23). Policy G7 set out some criteria for the consideration of 
development on green spaces not protected by any of the green space 
policies of the Plan, such as for biodiversity or as playing pitches. The 
Inspectors said that there is no provision for this kind of policy in the NPPF. 
Instead they required the alteration of G5 (MM22), which had applied only to 
outdoor sports, to apply all open spaces. This allows for the loss of open 
spaces if they are surplus to requirements or can be replaced elsewhere 
(with the local area). This does not alter the level of protection of these green 
spaces. Most are protected by the Plan. Those not protected are of more 
limited value, and may sometimes represent a good development 
opportunity. Policy G7 merely tried to ensure this potential development 
opportunity had the most positive outcomes.  

vii. The Inspectors required some amendments to Policy M3: Motor vehicle 
parking and the associated Appendix 7.3 MM32). A number of associated 
modifications to site allocation policies relating to large employment sites 
were also made. The changes are largely to ensure consistency and clarity. 
The Inspectors also considered it was not sound to require a reduction of 
parking at some employment sites. However, the following additional text to 
Policy M3, set out in MM32, says: ‘In the case of the redevelopment of an 
existing or previously cleared site, there should be no net increase in parking 
on the site from the previous level and the Council will seek a reduction 
where there is good accessibility to a range of facilities.’ 

viii. MM37 alters Policy V4 in relation to the shopping frontage thresholds for the 
Cowley Road to ensure that the thresholds are achievable. Changes to this 
Policy are also proposed to make it clear that a diverse range of uses is 
encouraged and will be accepted on upper floors, particularly housing and 
student accommodation. This is to promote provision of housing in all 
suitable locations across the city and to ensure efficient use of land.  

ix. An additional policy, Policy V9, has been added by MM41. This policy sets 
out requirements for digital infrastructure and ensures consistency with the 
NPPF.  

x. Two site allocations have been deleted from the Plan as development has 
commenced on site. These sites are SP64 Wolvercote Paper Mill and SP7 
276 Banbury Road.  

17. The examination process, including the hearing sessions, raised a number of 
changes required to the Plan in order for it to be found sound. These Main 
Modifications were consulted upon from Friday 14th February to Friday 27th March 
2020. A number of additional (minor) modifications have been made to the Plan 

12



since the Regulation 19 consultation, as minor typographical errors were noticed, 
where clarification was needed to explanatory text or appendices and where 
updating was required. The Inspectors have checked these and confirmed they do 
not consider them to be addressing matters of soundness so they can therefore be 
considered additional (or minor) modifications. The Plan attached as Appendix 1 is 
shown in strikethrough format to help people follow the changes made through main 
and additional modifications. The version that will be published following adoption 
will not show the changes in strikethrough. 

Adoption 

 

18. The Inspectors’ report concludes that the Plan is found sound dependent on the 
main modifications set out in the report being made. The receipt of the final 
Inspectors’ report closes the examination process. The Council now has two 
options; either the Plan with the main modifications recommended by the Inspectors 
can be adopted, or the Council can choose not to adopt the Plan. All the 
modifications must be accepted; it is not possible to choose only some of them or to 
reject them. Furthermore, no further main modifications can be made to the Plan. If 
the Plan is adopted it will become part of the Development Plan and have full weight 
in the determination of planning applications.  

19. Appendix 6 lists the documents that will form part of the Development Plan on 
adoption and those that will be superseded. Any future made Neighbourhood Plans 
will also become part of the development plan. The neighbourhood planning 
referendum for the Wolvercote Neighbourhood Development Plan (NDP) had to be 
delayed to 2021 due to the current pandemic in line with Government advice. 
Therefore it does not currently form part of the Development Plan listed in Appendix 
6. However, we as we had already issued a decision statement detailing the 
intention to send the Wovercote NDP to referendum, that plan can be given 
significant weight in decision-making. If when the referendum takes place the 
majority of those who vote on it are in favour the council will then consider a report 
to make the plan. It is at that point it would become part of the development plan.  

20. Adopting the Local Plan brings into effect the policies that have been developed 
over the last 4 years with the intention of responding to the needs of the city and 
protecting its special qualities. It would create an environment of planning certainty 
ensuring that development can come forward to meet need in a planned manner. It 
ensures that the Housing Delivery test would use the capacity-based housing target 
of the Plan as the measure, rather than the standard method, which cannot be 
achieved. This has benefits in terms of decision-making relating to planning 
applications.  

21. If the Plan is not adopted then the Core Strategy 2011-2026, the Sites and Housing 
Plan 2011-2026, and the saved policies of the Oxford Local Plan 2001-2016 will not 
be superseded. However, many policies of these plans would be considered out of 
date, which has consequences in terms of decision making (also discussed in the 
risk assessment section below). In particular there is a greater risk of government 
intervention because of being unable to meet the Housing Delivery Test and 
because of not having an up-to-date Local Plan.  

 

 

13



Financial implications 

22. The costs associated with the production of the Oxford Local Plan 2036 have been 
met through the current resources of the Planning Policy team budget. The adoption 
process itself does not carry significant costs.  

23. A decision not to adopt the Local Plan would mean the resources used to prepare 
this plan would have been ineffectual. It is a statutory requirement to maintain an up 
to date development plan and therefore not to adopt the plan would leave the 
council exposed to risk, which could have financial implications including planning 
appeals and the costs associated with having to expedite a wholly new plan. In 
addition, the Oxfordshire Growth Deal Delivery Plan and associated infrastructure 
funding had requirements that required the Oxfordshire authorities to put in place up 
to date development plans.   

Legal issues 

24. On adoption of the Oxford Local Plan 2036, any person aggrieved may make an 
application to the High Court to legally challenge the Plan. This application must be 
made during the six week period starting with the date of adoption. The High Court 
may quash the Plan wholly, or in part. Aggrieved person(s) who are unhappy with 
the adopted Local Plan may decide to exercise their right to apply for a judicial 
review.  In order for a legal challenge to be successful, the High Court would have 
to be satisfied that the Plan is to any extent outside the appropriate power, and/or 
that the interests of the applicant have been substantially prejudiced by a failure to 
comply with a procedural requirement. If successful the High Court could rule that 
the Local Plan be quashed, wholly or in part, or that a stage would need to be 
repeated.  

25. Officers consider that the relevant statutory procedures have been met during the 
preparation of the Local Plan 2036. The examination was conducted by two 
experienced planning inspectors and the report has carefully considered the 
soundness of the plan in detail to reach their conclusions. We therefore think the 
risk of a successful legal challenge is low.  

26. The only area of the statutory procedures that cannot be wholly fulfilled relate to the 
deposition of hard copies of the plan upon receipt of the Inspectors report and 
adoption because of Covid-19 and the associated social distancing measures. The 
Regulations require deposit of hard copies of the Inspectors’ report in the City 
Council’s principal office and other deposit locations (libraries within the city), all of 
which are currently closed to the public. The same requirement (Regulation 35) 
applies on adoption of the Local Plan as applies to receipt of the Inspectors’ report; 
that is deposit in the Council’s principal office and other deposit locations is 
required.  

27. Steps have been taken to minimise this risk from not following statutory procedures 
on receipt of the Inspector’s report and in terms of the actions required on adoption 
of the Plan. A note explaining the additional steps the Council was intending to take 
to advertise receipt of the Inspectors’ report and the adoption was added to the 
website prior to receipt of the Inspectors’ report. An addendum to the Statement of 
Community Involvement in Planning (SCI) has also been produced, for Cabinet to 
consider as a separate agenda item on 8th June 2020. It is considered that the 
measures taken represent reasonable and practical steps that should effectively 
limit the prospect of any prejudice arising as a result of not being able to deposit 
hard copies. 

14



28. Government published an update to national guidance on 13th May1 that included 
further temporary measures to make it easier to operate the planning system. Within 
this it explains that where any of the policies in the Statement of Community 
Involvement cannot be complied with due to current guidance to help combat the 
spread of coronavirus (COVID-19), the local planning authority is encouraged to 
undertake an immediate review and update the policies where necessary so that 
plan-making can continue. It goes onto explain that the local planning authority 
should then make any temporary amendments necessary to allow plan-making to 
progress, and that continue to promote effective community engagement by means 
which are reasonably practicable and strongly encourages the use of online 
methods.The measures we have introduced reflect this guidance. 

Level of risk 

29. On adoption of the Plan, it is likely to be the case that the requirements of the 
Regulations for depositing the Plan cannot be met in full because of the Covid-19 
situation. The Regulations require that the Plan is published on the website and 
deposited in hard copy at the Council’s principal office and other appropriate 
locations (usually we use the libraries in the city). The depositing of the Plan in hard 
copy for inspection is unlikely to be possible. As such, the council has considered all 
reasonable and practical steps possible to limit the prospect of any prejudice arising 
from not being able to deposit hard copies. The measures that will be taken include 
advertising the adoption of the plan on posters at the usual deposit locations, to 
advertise the adoption in the Oxford Mail/Oxford Times and to use all the usual 
publicity channels such as social media, in addition to direct notifications to all those 
on the Planning Policy database. All notifications will give a named officer and 
contact details if a person requires hard copies of the documents because they 
cannot access digital copies. These measures were also followed on receipt of the 
Inspectors’ report; that stage is subject to the same Regulation regarding deposit. 

30. As explained above the measures being taken by the Council are considered to be 
in line with the latest Government advice published on 13th May.  

31. If a challenge was to be made to the High Court on the basis that hard copies were 
not available in the deposit locations, the person aggrieved would need to show that 
they had been substantially prejudiced by the failure to comply with the relevant 
procedural requirement. It is considered that, given the wide ranging measures 
being taken to minimise the impact of not complying with this procedural 
requirement, the risk of a successful challenge on this ground is low, particularly in 
the context of the clear steer within the latest Government guidance.   

32. If a challenge in the High Court was successful on this basis (which is considered to 
be a low risk), the outcome would likely be that the relevant procedural requirement 
would need to be carried out before the Local Plan could be considered again for 
adoption. A challenge under these circumstances would not relate to the content of 
the Inspectors’ report, which would be expected to continue to carry significant 
weight for decision making. It is considered that given the level of risk, it is 
appropriate to continue with the adoption of the Local Plan when taking into account 
the benefits having an up to date development plan in place brings.  

                                            
1
 https://www.gov.uk/guidance/plan-making#covid19  

15

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/plan-making#covid19


33. There is a risk associated with choosing not to adopt the Plan. If the Plan was not 
adopted this would put at the risk the delivery of key policies and developments 
contained within it. The previous capacity-based housing target in the Core Strategy 
is no longer considered up-to-date for the purposes of the Housing Delivery Test so 
our housing delivery is assessed against the standard method until adoption of the 
Plan. This results in a requirement much higher than the capacity of the city. This 
could mean that the statutory development plan could be overridden in planning 
decisions in favour of national planning policies in the NPPF and the presumption in 
favour of sustainable development.  

34. A risk register is attached as Appendix 9. All risks have been mitigated to an 
acceptable level.  

Equalities impact  

35. The Equalities Impact Assessment (Appendix 10) was carried out on the proposed 
submission version of the Plan, consulted on alongside the Plan and submitted to 
the Secretary of State as part of the Examination library. It concluded that the Plan 
will provide improved standards of quality and access to services and have a 
positive impact on both the physical fabric and diverse communities of Oxford. 
There is no evidence that there will be a significant negative impact on any area; 
however monitoring arrangements will ensure this is kept under regular review. The 
Equalities Impact Assessment has been considered in light of the main 
modifications. No changes are required and the previous Equalities Impact 
Assessment is still relevant (Appendix 10).  

36. Ensuring that the Council minimises the equalities impacts of the current pandemic 
is a key focus of the additional measures proposed in the SCI addendum relating to 
publicising the adoption of the Plan. As set out in the body of the report, we 
consider that these measures would ensure that our Public Sector Equality Duty as 
set out in Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 is appropriately discharged as the 
measures being put in place will ensure that persons with protected characteristics 
continue to be able to participate in this planning process.  

Conclusion 

Officers strongly recommend the Council adopts the Oxford Local Plan 2036. It is 
the product of several years’ work and a robust evidence base. The Inspectors 
considered the strategy and policies in detail and found the Plan to be soundly 
based. The Plan has been developed on the basis of significant input from 
consultation and a thorough evidence base. It has a positive strategy for the city, 
attempting to help overcome issues such as inequality, and to require sustainable 
development, with stringent carbon efficiency policies, requirements for biodiversity 
enhancements, policies to ensure high quality design, delivery of much needed 
affordable housing, and promotion of sustainable travel.  

Report author Carolyn Ploszynski 

Job title Planning Policy and Place Manager 

Service area or department Planning 

Telephone  01865 252847 

e-mail  planningpolicy@oxford.gov.uk 

 

16



Background Papers: None 

 

17



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Adoption of Oxford Local Plan 2036

